University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

ScholarWorks @ UTRGV

Theses and Dissertations - UTB/UTPA

7-2014

Premenstrual experiences: The simultaneous examination of the association of self-perceived stress, college-related stress, and sleep quality

Sara Julia Gonzalez University of Texas-Pan American

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/leg_etd



Part of the Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Gonzalez, Sara Julia, "Premenstrual experiences: The simultaneous examination of the association of self-perceived stress, college-related stress, and sleep quality" (2014). Theses and Dissertations - UTB/ UTPA. 939.

https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/leg_etd/939

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations - UTB/UTPA by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. For more information, please contact justin.white@utrgv.edu, william.flores01@utrgv.edu.

A Thesis

by

SARA JULIA GONZALEZ

Submitted to the Graduate School of The University of Texas - Pan American In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

July 2014

Major Subject: Experimental Psychology

PREMENSTRUAL EXPERIENCES: THE SIMULTANEOUS EXAMINATION OF THE ASSOCIATION OF SELF-PERCEIVED STRESS, COLLEGE-RELATED STRESS, AND SLEEP QUALITY

A Thesis by SARA JULIA GONZALEZ

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Dr. Grant Benham Chair of Committee

Dr. Frederick A. Ernst Committee Member

Dr. Margaret Graham Committee Member

Copyright 2014 Sara Julia Gonzalez All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Gonzalez, Sara J., <u>Premenstrual Experiences: The Simultaneous Examination of the Association of Self-Perceived Stress, College-Related Stress, and Sleep Quality.</u> Master of Arts (MA), July, 2014, 53 pp., 5 tables, 107 references, 44 titles.

Research suggests that stress may contribute to the severity of premenstrual experiences, but the contribution of different types of stress has not been carefully examined. Using self-report measures, the current study examined the relation between self-perceived stress, college-related stress, sleep quality, and premenstrual experience in a predominantly Hispanic female college sample. Results indicated that self-perceived stress accounts for a statistically significant proportion of the variance in premenstrual experience ratings, with higher stress associated with greater premenstrual distress. Based on a hierarchical regression analysis, adding college-related stress to the predictive model allows for a significantly larger amount of the variance in premenstrual experiences to be accounted for and subsequently adding sleep quality as a predictor improves the model further. In the final model, all three predictor variables were statistically significant and accounted for 29% of the variance in premenstrual distress.

DEDICATION

The completion of my graduate studies could not have been possible without the incredible support of my mother, Julia Gonzalez, and my brother, Pablo Barajas. This milestone would not have been possible without them. Thank you both for always believing in me.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my thesis committee chair, Dr. Benham, for overseeing the completion of my thesis. I would also like to express my gratitude to my thesis committee member, Dr. Ernst, for his constant encouragement. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Graham for her support as a committee member. I feel incredibly privileged and thankful to have had them serve on my committee. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Winkel for his support in this project. I am forever grateful for all the guidance and wisdom that you all have shared with me throughout my time here at the University of Texas-Pan American—your advice and feedback has been absolutely invaluable.

I would also like to acknowledge Elizabeth Briones for always offering to lend a helping hand with this project. And lastly, I would like to thank Raul Garcia for always helping keep things in perspective and for his constant encouragement throughout my graduate studies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	iii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
Introduction of Premenstrual Distress	3
Brief History of Premenstrual Distress	3
Defining Premenstrual Distress	4
Premenstrual Distress Prevalence	6
Measuring Premenstrual Distress	7
Introduction to Stress	8
Stress and Premenstrual Distress	9
College-Related Stress	10
College Students, Stress, and Premenstrual Distress	11
Stress, Sleep Quality, and Premenstrual Distress	12
Overview of Hypotheses	13
CHAPTER III. METHODOLOGY	14

	Page
Participants	14
Procedure	14
Measures	15
Shortened Premenstrual Assessment Form (SPAF)	15
Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)	15
College Stress Inventory (CSI)	16
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)	16
CHAPTER IV. RESULTS	17
Demographics	17
Correlations Between Variables	17
Regression Analysis	17
Exploratory Analyses	18
CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION	25
Limitations and Future Directions	28
Conclusions	30
REFERENCES	31
APPENDIX A	40
Shortened Premenstrual Assessment Form (SPAF)	41
APPENDIX B	42
Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)	43
APPENDIX C	45
College Stress Inventory (CSI)	46

	Page
APPENDIX D	49
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)	50
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH	53

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1: Demographic Sample Percentages for Characteristics	20
Table 2: Descriptive Correlations for Study Variables	21
Table 3: Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Predicting Premenstrual Distress Levels	22
Table 4: Results of t-test and Descriptive Statistics by Time Between Starting Menstruation	and
Filling in Survey	23
Table 5: Results of t-test and Descriptive Statistics by Presence or Absence of Bed Partner.	24

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Research supports the etiology for menstrual pain (*dysmenorrhea*) in women's reproductive cycle as a biologic one; however, for the premenstrual physical and emotional discomforts that are regarded as premenstrual syndrome (PMS) and premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD) the cause is not as definitive (Taylor, 2006). Theories regarding the cause of premenstrual experiences have evolved over the years from the notion of biological hormonal imbalance (Redei & Freeman, 1995; Rubinow & Schmidt, 1992) to psychological causes (Bailey & Cohen, 1999). However, the recognition of multiple causes (Campagne & Campagne, 2007; Clare, 1985) has now led to an acceptance of a bio-psychosocial model (Connolly, 2001). Research has shed light on variables such as life stress, response to stress, history of sexual abuse, and cultural socialization as important contextual determinant factors of observed premenstrual changes (Vigod, Ross, & Steiner, 2009). It is now considered highly unlikely that a single theory can fully explain the manifestation of premenstrual experiences for all women. In view of the numerous psychosocial and cultural factors, the effects of the premenstrual biological processes vary for each woman and therefore create a variety of unique experiences (Gotts, Morse, & Dennerstein, 1995; Taylor, 2006).

One agent frequently associated with premenstrual complaints is stress. A number of studies indicate that women with premenstrual issues experience higher levels of both daily and life stress (Girdler et al., 1998; Golding, Taylor, Menard, & King, 2000; Paddison, et al., 1990;

Thomas & Narayanan, 2006; Woods, Lentz, Mitchell, & Kogan, 1994), leading some to recommend stress reduction and lifestyle/behavioral changes to help ameliorate premenstrual distress (Thomas & Narayanan, 2006). A major contributor to self-perceived stress in college settings is academic stress, but the relationship between specific college-related stress and premenstrual issues in young female students has not been deliberately studied. The current study attempts to fill this gap in the literature by investigating the relationship between specific college-related stress and premenstrual distress. The study examines whether higher stress levels, including higher college-related stress levels, are related to higher premenstrual distress reports.

Recently, researchers have proposed that inadequate sleep may also act as a biological stressor (Benham, 2010). Inadequate sleep has been linked to a number of mental and physical health conditions and has been found to have a temporal relation to the late-luteal phase in which premenstrual distress occurs (Baker & Colrain 2010; Baker, Kahan, Trinder, & Colrain, 2007; Baker et al., 2012; Lamarche, Driver, Wiebe, Crawford, & De Koninck 2007; Manber & Bootzin, 1997). Given this association, the current study assesses sleep and examines (i) whether inadequate sleep is positively associated with premenstrual distress and (ii) whether sleep quality improves the predictive power of a stress – premenstrual distress model.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Introduction of Premenstrual Distress

Brief History of Premenstrual Distress

The earliest reference to menstrual-related psychological and physical distress date back to the time of Hippocrates (460–377 BC) and also appear in ancient Egyptian writings (Veith, 1965). Although premenstrual distress was not seen as a distinct entity, Hippocrates described a temporal association of certain events to the menstruation cycle, "Shivering, lassitude, and heaviness of the head denotes the onset of menstruation" (Bronfen, 1998). In the 11th-century, Trotula of Salerno, a woman regarded as the world's first gynecologist, wrote a gynecological and obstetric book titled *Passionibus Mulierum Curandorum* (The Disease of Women). The book addressed subjects such as the retention and paucity of the menses, and its reestablishment after giving birth. The book did not cite a definitive premenstrual condition, however it did describe distress alleviation with the onset of the menses, "There are young women who are relieved when the menses are called forth" (Mason-Hohl, 1940).

During the Renaissance period, the Italian physician Giambattista Da Monte (1489–1551) advised physicians that they could attain the trust of their female patients by correctly predicting the approach of menstruation through the observation of changes in the body. He explained that blood that wanted to flow down to the uterus would begin to move and become agitated. This in turn caused heaviness, heat in the whole body, and weariness to the patient. Due to the "many

ascending vapours", pain and heaviness in the head would then follow. The woman's belly would then swell so much that she would appear pregnant (Stolberg, 2000).

While it is evident that women throughout history experienced premenstrual changes, it was not until 1931 that the physician Dr. Robert Frank finally delineated a set of symptoms related to menstruation as a clinical entity (Frank, 1931). Frank called the constellation of symptoms that occurred the week prior to menstruation and which ended with the onset of menstruation, "premenstrual tension". The continuum of complaints ranged from physical symptoms such as headache, backache, abdominal and back pain, breast fullness and discomfort, weight gain, abdominal bloating, fatigue and nausea, to more psychological symptoms such as depression, difficulty concentrating, nervousness, irritability, restlessness, and generalized emotional tension (Frank, 1931; Janiger, Riffenburgh, & Kersh, 1972; Rubinow & Roy-Byrne, 1984).

Unsatisfied with the term "premenstrual tension", as tension was only one of the many components of the syndrome, Dr. Raymond Green and Dr. Katarina Dalton published a paper in the British Medical Journal in 1953 in which they coined the term "premenstrual syndrome" (Greene & Dalton, 1953). The new name was a major turning point in the medicalization of women's menstrual cycles: the term began to be taken more seriously and was seen as an important problem to be solved (Chrisler & Caplan, 2002).

Defining Premenstrual Distress

To date, there is no clear consensus on the definition of premenstrual afflictions. Instead, conditions are seen as making up a continuum of disorders that are loosely defined according to the nature and severity of their distress (Yonkers, Pearlstein, & Rosenheck, 2003). The symptoms, sensations, feelings, and observations such as bloating, headaches, nausea, ovulatory

pain, and breast tenderness that many women experience during the premenstrual phase of their cycles defines the least troublesome condition referred to as *premenstrual molimina*. Symptoms falling under this category do not cause any functional impairment and are minimally distressing (Yonkers et al., 2003). Generally if the symptoms occur within 3 days prior to the onset of menses and do not represent a woman's chief presenting complaint to her doctor, symptoms are considered to be a normal part of a woman's menstrual cycle—they simply forebode ovulation and subsequent menstruation (Managing Premenstrual Symptoms: Definitions, 2008).

Premenstrual syndrome (PMS) includes symptoms that are distressing and are of sufficient severity for individuals to seek some form of treatment (Yonkers et al., 2003). To meet the criteria for PMS, symptoms experienced must occur during the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle and settle within a few days of the onset of menstruation (Shulman, 2010). However, most premenstrual symptoms are often referred to as PMS (Steiner, 2000) because there is generally no demonstrated gold standard definition (Freeman et al., 2011). In clinical trials, about sixty-five different questionnaires and scales, incorporating 199 symptoms, have been used as inclusion criteria or outcome measures—making any comparative evaluation of possible treatments for PMS extremely complicated (Budeiri, Li Wan Po, & Dornan, 1994). Therefore a diagnosis of PMS relies heavily on the instrument utilized.

The extreme and predominantly more psychological form of PMS is referred to as premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD) (Cheng et al., 2013). The diagnosis first appeared in the appendix of the revised third edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (3rd ed., rev.; DSM-III-R; American Psychiatric Association, 1987) as late luteal phase dysphoric disorder (LLPDD). It was subsequently renamed PMDD and incorporated into the appendix of the fourth edition (4th ed.; DSM-IV; American Psychiatric Association, 1994)

and, in 2013, PMDD became a distinct depressive disorder in the fifth edition (5th ed.; DSM–5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Like PMS, to meet the criteria for PMDD the symptoms experienced must occur during the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle and alleviate within a few days of the onset of menstruation (Shulman, 2010). This condition includes at least one disabling affective symptom (Halbreich et al., 2007); and has been described as having an associated reduced quality of life comparable to that of chronic depression (Halbreich, Borenstein, Terry, & Kahn, 2003). Some have criticized the diagnosis, arguing the need for more research regarding the criteria, its method of assessment, and determination of symptom change (Di Giulio, & Reissing, 2006).

In studying this female phenomenon, the current study will follow in the steps of feminist psychologists that have chosen to use terms such as 'premenstrual change' or 'premenstrual distress' in order to avoid the criticized medicalized diagnostic categories of PMS or PMDD (Ussher, 2006); focusing only on the variable of premenstrual distress as measured by self-reported premenstrual changes experienced.

Premenstrual Distress Prevalence

In recent population samples, 90-91% of adult women reported at least one premenstrual symptom (Tschudin, Bertea, & Zemp, 2010; Campagne & Campagne, 2007). This rate is similar to that found in the younger college student population. In a study of American nursing school graduates, 87% reported an overall lifetime prevalence of premenstrual distress (Johnson, McChesney, & Bean, 1988). At least one premenstrual symptom was experienced by 96% of university students in Saudi Arabia (Rasheed & Sowailem, 2003) and 79% of Japanese college students reported having experienced premenstrual distress (Yamamoto, Okazaki, Sakamoto, & Funatsu, 2009).

Beyond the experience of symptoms associated with diagnostic entity of PMS, as many as 75% of women have reported experiencing PMS to some degree during their reproductive years (Johnson, 1987; Steiner, 1997). PMS is also a commonly reported problem among college-age women (Cheng et al., 2013; Tabassum, Afridi, Aman, Tabassum, & Durrani, 2005); and nearly one-third of adolescents report experiencing severe PMS or PMDD (Steiner et al., 2011; Vichnin, Freeman, Lin, Hillman, & Bui, 2006).

Some have suggested that race and ethnicity may have an influence on expression of premenstrual distress and therefore its observed prevalence. In Japanese women, moderate to severe PMS and PMDD prevalence rate was only 5.3 and 1.2% respectively, much lower than rates reported by Western women (Takeda, Tasaka, Sakata, & Murata, 2006). Differences however, may depend on instruments used to assess symptoms.

Measuring Premenstrual Distress

Various instruments that assess premenstrual distress are currently available for research or clinical use. While retrospective instruments rely on the rating of distress severity during a typical cycle from memory, prospective or concurrent measures rely on daily checklists of symptoms (Haywood, Slade, & King, 2002). Some have argued that retrospective measures provide an exaggerated estimation of symptom severity by the participant recall (Endicott & Halbreich, 1982). Although concurrent measures rely less on memory, they are very demanding on participants and can potentially lead to nonadherence (Haywood et al., 2002).

Some measures, developed for use in the clinical setting, are designed to determine the presence or absence of PMS using dichotomous criteria (Steiner, Haskett, & Carroll, 1980). Such scales are useful in identifying higher levels of symptom severity (Haywood et al., 2002). Other instruments measure symptoms using scales that range from not present to severe

(Mortola, Girton, Beck, & Yen, 1990) which allow the study of differing levels of change in a range of populations (Haywood et al., 2002).

Each instrument has its own strengths and limitations for use. Menstrual cycle researchers and clinicians therefore need to consider the available methods for measuring symptoms in a systematic way when choosing upon the most appropriate measure that meets their needs (Haywood et al., 2002). The current study uses a retrospective measure that inquires about change in affect, water retention, and pain compared with the nonpremenstrual state—that is, changes that occur in the 7 days prior to the onset of menses.

Introduction to Stress

Chronic stress is defined as a continuous state of arousal in which individuals perceive demands as greater than the inner and outer resources available for dealing with them (Gerrig & Zimbardo, 2002). There is now substantial evidence demonstrating the negative impact of chronic stress on health; indeed, it has been estimated that 75% of doctor visits are related to stress-related illness (Cass, 2006). Stress is associated with suppressed immune function, increasing susceptibility to infection, and increased risk for coronary heart disease (Chandola et al., 2008) and hypertension (Spruill, 2010).

Stress is also implicated in depression. Interestingly, women exhibit higher stress sensitivities than men, which may contribute to their greater vulnerability to the condition (Gourion, 2009). Moreover, women are more likely than men to report physical and emotional symptoms associated with stress (APA, 2012). It is noteworthy that symptoms commonly associated with PMS such as irritability, tension, fatigue, crying, headaches, and backaches appear to overlap with the physical symptoms frequently associated with stress (Chrisler, 1996).

Stress and Premenstrual Distress

PMS has been referred to as a psychoneuroendocrine stress related disorder—a stress induced disorder (Dvivedi, Dvivedi, Mahajan, Mittal, & Singhal, 2008). Women with premenstrual symptoms have been found to experience higher levels of both daily stress and life stress (Girdler et al., 1998; Golding, Taylor, Menard, & King, 2000; Paddison et al., 1990; Thomas & Narayanan, 2006; Woods et al., 1994). Additionally, the level of serum cortisol (a steroid hormone released in response to stress) is significantly higher in women with PMS than in women with no symptoms of PMS (Dvivedi, Dvivedi, Kaur, 2011).

Women with high PMS report lower quality of life and significantly higher stress than women with low PMS (Lustyk, Widman, Paschane, & Ecker, 2004). Among US active duty women, overall job stress was among the most significant predictors of premenstrual symptoms (Hourani, Yuan, & Bray, 2004). Family and work-related stress has also been implicated as a factor that increases menstrual-related problems and alters the menstrual cycle (Hatch, Figa-Talamanca, & Salerno, 1999; Kuczmierczyk, Labrum, and Johnson, 1992). Significant positive correlations continue to be found between the severity of premenstrual symptoms and perceived stress level (Hamaideh, Al-Ashram, & Al-Modallal, 2013). Research also indicates that higher perceived stress precedes an increased severity of both premenstrual and menstrual symptoms (Gollenberg et al., 2010), providing evidence for a directional causal effect.

Some feminist scholars, who view PMS and PMDD as Western social constructs, contend that work and family stress along with poor coping strategies, history of childhood trauma, or underlying chronic conditions can accurately explain the experience of premenstrual symptoms (Chrisler & Caplan, 2002). While the majority of women experience at least one premenstrual symptom, most are still able to function normally without any significant

impairment (Daley, 2009; Tschudin et al., 2010). However, it is evident that a relationship between premenstrual symptomatology and stress exists; and because long-term health consequences associated with stress are also evident, premenstrual symptom reports should not be trivialized.

Sadler et al. (2010) have argued that women are simply less likely to experience symptoms if they suffer less from stress. It is therefore hypothesized that higher self-perceived stress levels will be related to higher self-reported premenstrual distress levels in the current study sample.

College-Related Stress

In the university student population, time is heavily invested in academic endeavors. It is then reasonable to hypothesize that unique college-related stressors play a major role in the stress experienced by students. University course load has been shown to be a major source of stress affecting academic performance (Talib & Sansgiry, 2011). Exams and their results have been reported to be the highest causes of stress for university students; followed by studying for exams, a heavy agenda, and the large amount of material to learn (Abouserie, 1994).

College related stress is also linked to student health. Among college students, academic stress was found to be associated with poorer health outcomes of depression and physical illness (MacGeorge, Samter, & Gillihan, 2005). Compounding this issue, positive health behaviors such as exercise, nutrition, self-care, drug avoidance, and vehicle safety have previously shown to deteriorate during times of academic stress (Weidner, Kohlmann, Dotzauer, & Burns, 1996).

Recently, Cruz et al., (2013) found that almost all students report sedentary lifestyles during periods of greater academic stress; a particularly important finding given that students who meet physical activity recommendations are less likely to report poor mental health and

perceived stress (Vankim & Nelson, 2013). High levels of academic stress are also significantly related to high non-medical use of prescription drugs (NMUPD) such as stimulants, depressants, and sleeping medication (Betancourt et al., 2013). Furthermore, in investigating the strategies that students use to cope with stress, alcohol consumption has been found to be associated with academic stress (González et al., 2013).

Given the focus of this current study, it is important to note that female students report higher levels of stress than men (Abouserie, 1994); and, specifically, higher levels of academic stress (Cruz et al., 2013). Both American and international female college students display greater behavioral (e.g., crying, drug use, smoking, and irritability) and physiological reactions (e.g., sweating, stuttering, trembling, exhaustion, weight loss/gain, and headaches) to academic stressors (Misra & Castillo, 2004).

College Students, Stress, and Premenstrual Distress

Various types of chronic stress are related to premenstrual distress in college students. Psychosocial stress is a significant predictor of premenstrual distress and the experience of irregular menstrual cycles (Yamamoto et al., 2009) and of higher premenstrual severity; the latter amplified in female students with a history of abuse (Lustyk, Widman, & Becker, 2007). In a single study of Turkish students, emotional stress was shown to be a contributing factor to PMS (Erbil, Karaca, & Kiris, 2010), but the relationship between academic stress and premenstrual distress has not been extensively studied, particularly in Hispanic women.

Due to the unique stressors attending college provides, it is hypothesized that the more college-related stress students report, the higher the premenstrual distress level reports will be. Furthermore, it is hypothesized that college-related stress will add predictive power to the stress and premenstrual distress relationship among female college students.

Stress, Sleep Quality, and Premenstrual Distress

Stress is associated with poor sleep quality and it has been suggested that studies of stress and health may benefit from the inclusion of sleep measures (Benham, 2010). Bedtime stress and worries have been found to be a major predictor of sleep quality (Akerstedt et al., 2012) and occupational stress has been suggested as a risk factor for insomnia and shorter sleep for both men and women (Utsugi et al., 2005). Among undergraduate students, negative family life events coupled with academic stress predicted the highest levels of insomnia (Bernert et al., 2007). Women, more often than men, perceive interpersonal problems and psychological factors such as different worries and regrets, as the most frequent factors impairing falling asleep and the quality of sleep (Urponen, Vuori, Hasan, & Partinen, 1988).

Females are at increased risk for poor sleep (Middelkoop, Smilde-van den Doel, Neven, Kamphuisen, & Springer, 1996; Schutte-Rodin, Broch, Buysse, Dorsey, & Sateia, 2008). A temporal relationship between sleep complaints and the menstrual cycle has also been noted: women with severe PMS report more daytime sleepiness and fatigue compared to when they are distress-free and when compared to women with minimal premenstrual distress (Baker & Colrain 2010; Lamarche et al., 2007; Manber & Bootzin, 1997). Women with severe PMS are particularly prone to poor sleep quality during the late-luteal phase (Baker et al., 2007; Baker et al., 2012) and poorer sleep quality is also more common during the three premenstrual days and the four initial days of menstruation in women without significant menstrual-related distress (Baker & Driver, 2004). Given this association, some have recommended mid-afternoon naps during the late-luteal phase of the woman's cycle to temporarily improve and possibly help prevent worsening of premenstrual distress (Lamarche, Driver, Forest, & De Koninck, 2010).

Given this prior research, it is hypothesized that poor sleep quality will be related to higher self-reported premenstrual distress levels. In addition, because previous stress and health research has suggested that a stress-health model can be improved by adding sleep as a predictor, it is hypothesized that poor sleep quality will add predictive power to a model that already contains self-perceived stress and college-related stress as predictors of premenstrual distress.

Overview of Hypotheses

Research on premenstrual distress has revealed the female phenomenon as multi-causal. Stress has consistently been demonstrated to be an important factor. Yet, in respect to female college students, there is a paucity of research specifically demonstrating the impact of college-related stressors. The primary purpose of this study is to determine whether higher college-related stress measures are related to higher premenstrual distress levels among female students; and, if so, whether the more germane measure of college-related stress scores among this unique female subgroup improve the predictive power of the stress-premenstrual distress model. In addition, the study will also examine whether sleep quality will further improve the model. It is hypothesized that:

- 1) Self-perceived stress will be positively correlated with self-reported premenstrual distress.
- 2) College-related stress will be positively correlated with self-reported premenstrual distress.
- 3) Sleep quality will be negatively correlated with self-reported premenstrual distress.
- 4) A regression model predicting premenstrual distress levels from self-perceived stress will be improved by the addition of college-related stress as a predictor and further improved by the subsequent addition of sleep quality as a predictor.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Three hundred and eighty-eight females participated in the study. Participants ranged in age from 18 to 46 years old (M = 22.84, SD = 4.77), 95.2 % were undergraduate students, and 89.5% described themselves as Hispanic.

Procedure

The researcher emailed recruitment flyers with the study's information and survey link to professors from the College of Social and Behavioral Sciences at the University of Texas-Pan American to recruit participants for extra credit. Recruitment at UTPA also included in-class announcement of study and distribution of recruitment flyers by the researcher. Additionally, the survey was made available for any female to complete through word-of-mouth and social media (i.e., Facebook posts).

Responses were collected using Qualtrics online survey software. The online survey contained questionnaires that obtained measures of premenstrual distress levels, perceived stress levels, college-related stress levels, sleep quality, and demographic information. Inclusion criteria included regular menstruation, not currently pregnant, and not currently using any method of hormonal contraception that suppresses regular menstruation. Respondents who indicated that they were not currently college students, were currently pregnant, reported having been previously diagnosed with either a sleep disorder or insomnia, or did not finish the survey

were excluded from the final analysis. These exclusions resulted in a final sample size of three hundred and twenty-five.

Measures

Shortened Premenstrual Assessment Form (SPAF)

Premenstrual distress was measured by the Shortened Premenstrual Assessment Form (SPAF) developed by Allen, McBride, and Pirie (1991). The 10-item SPAF provides an equivalent assessment to the 95-item original Premenstrual Assessment Form as evidenced by its equally strong reliability (test-retest coefficient range of .6 to .7) and validity (internal consistency coefficient of .95). The SPAF evaluates the presence or change in intensity of symptoms typical during the female reproductive premenstrual phase. The SPAF has three subscales that include affect, pain, and water retention; and uses a six-point Likert scale ranging from 'no change' (1) to 'extreme change' (6). The participants were asked to indicate the severity of their distress by the scaled number that most closely described the intensity of their premenstrual experience during their last cycle. SPAF scores range from 10 to 60. Higher SPAF scores indicate more severe symptoms, with a score greater than 30 generally indicating moderate PMS symptoms.

Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)

Stress was measured using the 10-item Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) developed by Cohen and Williamson (1988). The 10-item PSS is a revision of the published original 14-item PSS (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983) and is recommended as an adequate measure over the longer version due to a tighter factor structure and slight improvement in internal reliability (Cohen & Williamson, 1988). The 10-item PSS uses a five-point Likert scale ranging from

'never' (0) to 'very often' (4). PSS scores range from 0 to 40, with higher scores indicating more stress.

College Stress Inventory (CSI)

College related stress was measured using the College Stress Inventory (CSI) developed by Solberg, Hale, Villarreal, and Kavanagh (1993). The scale was among the first created and empirically validated for use with Latino undergraduate college students. The CSI is a 21-item instrument has three identified subscales within the measure: Academic Stress, Social Stress, and Financial Stress. It uses a five-point Likert scale from 'never' (0) to 'very often' (4). CSI total scores range from 0 to 84, with higher scores indicating more college stress.

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)

Sleep quality was assessed using the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) developed by Buysse, Reynolds, Monk, Berman, and Kupfer (1989) that provides a global measure of sleep quality. The scale consists of 19 questions based on seven components: subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleeping medication and daytime dysfunction over the last month. The items are scored on a four-point Likert scale ranging from 'not during the past month' (0) to 'three or more times a week' (3). PSQI scores range from 0 to 21, with higher scores representing worse sleep quality.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Demographics

The majority of participants, 84.9%, indicated that they were not currently using any method of hormonal birth control (e.g., oral contraceptives, contraceptive patch, etc.). More than half, 52.9%, reported the use of over-the-counter medication for premenstrual and/or menstrual symptoms; and only 6.5% reported the use of prescription medication for premenstrual and/or menstrual symptoms. Table 1 provides a more detailed summary of the sample characteristics.

Correlations Between Variables

Correlations between the measured variables are presented in Table 2. All analyses were directional and calculated as Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients with alpha set at .05. All variables were significantly correlated with each other, in the directions hypothesized. Premenstrual distress was positively correlated with both self-perceived and college-related stress and negatively correlated with sleep quality (higher scores on the PSQI represent poorer sleep quality).

Regression Analysis

A hierarchical regression analysis was conducted to examine whether adding measures of college-related stress and sleep quality to the hypothesized stress-premenstrual distress model would improve the predictive model. To investigate this hypothesis, self-perceived stress was entered at the first step, college-related stress was entered at the second step, and sleep quality

was entered at the third step. In the first step of the hierarchical regression, the results indicated that the model was statistically significant (F(1, 316) = 78.05, p < .001) with self-perceived stress explaining 19.8 % of the variance in premenstrual distress levels. In step 2, when college-related stress was added to the model, the total variance explained was 27.7% (F(2, 315) = 60.30, p < .001). The addition of the college-related stress measure explained a significantly greater proportion of the variance in premenstrual distress levels, after controlling for self-perceived stress (R^2 change = .08, F(1, 315) = 34.32, p < .001). In step 3, with the addition of sleep quality, the total variance explained by the model as a whole was 29% (F(3, 314) = 42.78, p < .001). Thus, the introduction of the sleep quality measure added a small, but statistically significant, increase in the proportion of variance in premenstrual distress levels that could be explained by the model (R^2 Change = .01, F(1, 314) = 5.88, p = .02). The final model indicated that all three predictor variables were statistically significant, with college-related stress providing a higher Beta weight ($\beta = .28, p < .001$) than self-perceived stress ($\beta = .27, p < .001$) and sleep quality ($\beta = .13, p = .02$). Results of this analysis are presented in Table 3.

Exploratory Analyses

As a supplemental analysis, we explored whether the day in the menstrual cycle in which the survey was filled out affected self-reports of self-perceived stress, college-related stress, sleep quality, and premenstrual distress. Independent t-test was performed to assess differences in scores on any of the four scales between those who filled out the measures within 2 weeks of starting menstruation versus those who filled out the measures more than 2 weeks after starting menstruation. Results indicated no difference between these two groups on any of the four measures. Results of this analysis are presented in Table 4.

Additionally, we explored whether sleeping alone vs. sleeping with a partner was associated with individuals' levels of stress, sleep quality, and premenstrual distress. Two-tailed independent t-tests indicated that individuals who slept with a partner had significantly greater premenstrual distress (M = 34.86, SD = 10.16) than participants who reported sleeping in bed alone (M = 31.76, SD = 11.14; t (323) = -2.31, p = .02). The groups did not differ on measures of stress or sleep quality. Results of this analysis are presented in Table 5.

Table 1.

Demographic Sample Percentages for Characteristics

Age			Number of Children		
<i>8</i> -	18 - 20	37.2%		None	85.8%
	21 - 23	37%		1	7.1%
	24 - 26	12.6%		2	3.4%
	27 - 29	5.5%		3 or More	3.7%
	30 - 32	3.1%	Class Standing		
	33 - 35	.9%	Č	Freshmen	5.8%
	36 and Over	3.6%		Sophomore	11.4%
Ethnicity				Junior	30.5%
•	African American	1.8%		Senior	48%
	Asian	3.4%		Graduate Student or Other	4.3%
	Caucasian	1.8%	Current Semester		
	Hispanic	90.2%	Hours of College	1 - 3	13.2%
	Other	2.8%	Course Load	4 - 6	25.2%
Household Income				7 – 9	7.6%
	Less than \$10,000	25.5%		10 - 12	17.8%
	\$10,000 - \$19,999	16.7%		13 - 15	25.2%
	\$20,000 - \$29,999	15.4%		16 or More	10.8%
	\$30,000 - \$39,999	6.3%	Paid Hours of Work		
	\$40,000 - \$49,999	9.4%	per Week	None	38.5%
	\$50,000 - \$59,999	8.5%	_	1 - 10	9.8%
	\$60,000 - \$69,999	3.5%		11- 20	23.4%
	\$70,000 - \$79,999	4.1%		21 - 30	16.3%
	\$80,000 or More	10.6%		More than 30	12%
Marital Status			Unpaid Hours of		
	Single	77.5%	Work per Week	None	49.7%
	Living with Another	8.6%	_	1 - 10	36.7%
	Married	10.5%		11- 20	9%
	Separated	1.5%		21 - 30	3.4%
	Divorced	1.8%		More than 30	1.2%

Table 2.

Descriptive Correlations for Study Variables

	M	SD	N	SPAF PSS CSI
SPAF	32.64	10.95	325	
PSS	22.91	4.68	325	.45***
CSI	28.51	14.19	325	.47** .49***
PSQI	6.65	3.64	318	.32*** .30*** .39***

Note: SPAF = the Shortened Premenstrual Assessment Form; PSS = the Perceived Stress Scale; CSI = the College Stress Inventory; PSQI = the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. ***p<.001

Table 3.

Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Predicting Premenstrual Distress Levels

Predictor	R	R^2	ΔR^2	F	df	В	β weight
Step 1: PSS	.45	.20	.20***	78.05	1, 316	.62***	.27***
Step 2: CSI	.53	.28	.08***	60.30	2, 315	.21***	.28***
Step 3: PSQI	.54	.29	.01*	42.78	3, 314	.38*	.13*

Note: PSS = the Perceived Stress Scale; CSI = the College Stress Inventory; PSQI = the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index.

^{*}p<.05, ***p<.001

Table 4. Results of t-test and Descriptive Statistics by Time Between Starting Menstruation and Filling in Survey

	Group					95% CI for Mean				
	Within	n 2 week	S	Later	than 2 w	eeks	Difference			
	M	SD	\overline{N}	\overline{M}	SD	N	-	t	df	
PSS	23.25	5.28	128	22.96	4.01	156	83, 1.41	.51	233	
CSI	29.70	14.90	128	27.52	15.50	156	-1.27, 5.62	1.24	282	
PSQI	6.80	3.89	127	6.71	3.36	151	76, .95	.22	276	
SPAF	32.83	11.56	128	32.75	10.62	156	-2.52, 2.67	.06	282	

Note: PSS = the Perceived Stress Scale; CSI = the College Stress Inventory; PSQI = the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; SPAF = the Shortened Premenstrual Assessment Form.

Table 5. Results of t-test and Descriptive Statistics by Presence or Absence of Bed Partner

	Group					95% CI for Mean			
	Slee	p Alone		Sleep	With Pa	ırtner	Difference		
	M	SD	N	\overline{M}	SD	N	_	t	df
PSS	22.82	4.80	233	23.15	4.36	92	-1.47, .80	58	323
CSI	27.75	14.31	233	30.45	13.76	92	-6.13, .73	-1.55	323
PSQI	6.50	3.45	226	7.04	4.07	92	-1.43, .34	-1.22	316
SPAF	31.76	11.14	233	34.86	10.16	92	-5.73,46	-2.31*	323

Note: PSS = the Perceived Stress Scale; CSI = the College Stress Inventory; PSQI = the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; SPAF = the Shortened Premenstrual Assessment Form.

^{*}p<.05

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Previous research shows that stress is an important predictor of premenstrual distress levels, however little research addresses the relationship of specific college-related stress among female college students. The present study explored this issue by analyzing the impact self-perceived stress has on premenstrual distress levels and testing whether college-related stress reported by students improves the predictive relationship. Furthermore, the study examined the additional contribution of sleep to the predictive relationship.

In the present study, higher levels of self-perceived stress reported were found to be associated with higher levels of premenstrual distress levels. This relationship was also observed by Lustyk, Beam, Miller, and Olson (2006), who found that a positive relationship between self-perceived stress and premenstrual distress levels in a university sample, by Thomas and Narayanan (2006), who found a positive correlation between life-stress and premenstrual distress, and by Deuster, Adera, and South-Paul (1999), who found that stress was the strongest predictor for PMS after controlling for biological, social, and behavioral factors in women.

Students' reports of college-related stress were also found to be positively related to premenstrual distress levels in the current sample. This is a particularly important finding, given that the specific impact of college stress on premenstrual complaints has not been widely studied. Our findings support those of a recent investigation of adolescent girls in India that demonstrated

a correlation between premenstrual distress and the number of academic projects and presentations due (Padmavathi, Sankar, & Kokilavani, 2014).

Although the independent correlations between self-perceived stress and premenstrual distress and between college stress and premenstrual distress were almost identical, allowing each to independently predict approximately 20% of the variance in premenstrual distress scores, the hierarchical regression analysis suggests that the two stress measures are not simply measuring the same thing. Adding college stress to the initial stress-distress regression model allows one to predict premenstrual distress more accurately, accounting for an additional 8% of the variance in distress scores. College students experience a unique cluster of stressors (Garrett, 2001) that more generalized stress measures may not adequately assess, therefore it may be important to consider the supplementation of general stress scales with this targeted measure to more accurately quantify college students' stress levels. Both measures examined the frequency with which participants experienced the listed items "during the last month", but the college stress scale asked participants to enumerate financial, academic, and social difficulties (such as taking exams) whereas the perceived stress scale asked more general questions about feeling nervous and stressed, feeling unable to cope, and controlling irritations. The results do not suggest that college stress is a better predictor of premenstrual distress than general stress measures (the independent correlations were comparable), but its addition to a multivariate model appears to add predictive power.

Sleep quality was shown to be negatively associated with premenstrual distress levels but the strength of the correlation was less than that demonstrated by either of the stress measures, independently accounting for 10% of the variance in premenstrual distress. Nonetheless, sleep quality did prove to be significantly associated with premenstrual distress; a relationship that has

been previously demonstrated in the literature. Shao, Chou, Yeh, and Tzeng, (2010) found that poor sleep quality was related to premenstrual dysphoria and that sleep disturbances commonly occur during the premenstrual time not only for women diagnosed with PMS, but for women in general (Mauri, Reid, & MacLean, 1988). One of the aims of this study was to examine whether sleep quality might add to the predictive power of a stress-premenstrual distress model. The small, but statistically significant, increase in R^2 demonstrated in our model after adding sleep quality, indicates that this variable significantly improved the model's ability to predict premenstrual distress over and above that which can be predicted by self-perceived stress and college stress. In other words, sleep quality is a significant predictor of a woman's premenstrual distress even after having controlled for her level of self-perceived stress and college stress.

All three predictors (self-perceived stress, college-related stress, and sleep quality) contributed significantly to the final model jointly accounting for 29% of the variance in reported premenstrual distress. Such results support previous findings of a multi-causal phenomenon (Campagne & Campagne, 2007). As proposed by Benham (2010), inadequate sleep might be conceptualized as a form of physiological stress that, alongside other stressors, has a negative impact on health. Thus, the final model presented in the current study might best be thought of as a stress-health model that integrates three qualitatively different measures of stress as predictors of premenstrual distress. While the model accounts for a respectable 30% of the variability in premenstrual distress, this leaves another 70% accounted for by other factors. Future research should build upon this stress-premenstrual distress model by examining other contributing variables. For example, there is evidence that certain personality factors, such as neuroticism (Taylor, Fordyce, & Alexander, 1991) and Type-A personality (Thomas and Narayanon, 2006), may be predictive of the level of self-reported premenstrual symptoms.

Although not part of the original hypothesis, exploratory analyses revealed an interesting difference in premenstrual distress tied to the presence or absence of a partner in bed. Women who indicated that they slept in bed with a partner reported significantly higher premenstrual distress levels than women who slept alone. While one might be tempted to ascribe this difference to poorer sleep, there were no significant differences in sleep quality between these two groups.

In summary, self-perceived stress, specific college-related stress, and sleep quality were all significantly related to premenstrual distress levels. The three predictors did not account for all variance in premenstrual distress levels, but these factors did account for almost 1/3 of the variance—a sizable proportion to bear in mind when addressing high premenstrual complaints.

Limitations and Future Directions

As with all research, we recognize that our study suffers from a number of limitations. The current sample was predominately Hispanic. Thus, while this demographic is traditionally underrepresented in research, our findings may not be generalizable to other populations. A selection bias in the sample may also be present. Females with higher premenstrual distress levels may be more interested in participating in the current study than females with lower distress levels, which could lead to selection bias. It should also be noted that the large majority of students participated in the study in return for extra credit in their college courses. Extra credit need may be driven by low performance in a course—thus participants with higher academic stress due to lower grades may have been more inclined to participate.

Another limitation of this study is the retrospective self-report design for assessing premenstrual distress levels, stress, and sleep quality. It has been argued that participants may

either over- or under-estimate the degree to which they were affected by their premenstrual changes (Endicott & Halbreich, 1982), but other researchers have defended the reliability and validity of retrospective self-reports in premenstrual distress research (Hart, Coleman, & Russell, 1987). Similarly it can be argued that the degree of estimation for stress and sleep quality may be compromised by inaccurate memory recall. In line with our own findings, prior research has shown self-reports of sleep disturbances to be common in women with high levels of premenstrual distress, but research that uses physiological polysomnographic measures has shown inconsistent associations (e.g., Baker et al., 2007). In general terms, the current study suffers from the problem of common methods' variance because both the predictor and dependent variables are based on self-reports provided during a single online survey administration session. Future research would benefit from the incorporation of both self-report and physiological measures, such as the assessment of the stress hormone cortisol and electroencephalographic measures of sleep, though these benefits must always be balanced against the attendant increases in research time and costs.

Our study found no differences in premenstrual distress between women who had begun menstruation within the two week period prior to taking the survey and those who had taken the survey more than two weeks after beginning menstruation. The date of participation in our study and reported date of last start of menstruation allowed for a crude calculation to be examined. On account of the average menstrual cycle being 28 days long (Widmaier Raff, Strang, & Vander, 2010), the sample was split into two groups; group 1 consisted of those students who participated in the survey within two weeks (i.e., 14 days) of the first day of their menstrual cycle (i.e., first day of last menstruation) and group 2 consisted of those students who participated after the two-week (i.e., 15+ days) time frame. However, exact menstrual cycle lengths were not

known for the sample and, although 28 days is the average, normal cycles can vary from 21-35 days (Widmaier et al., 2010). Furthermore, women under 25 years of age have the highest variability of menstrual cycle lengths (Chiazze, Brayer, Macisco, Parker, Duffy, 1968). Thus, future research would benefit from collecting self-reported menstrual cycle lengths and, if possible, an assessment of the exact phase of participants' menstrual cycle (i.e., follicular and luteal).

The cross-sectional methodology used in this study does not allow us to make causal attributions regarding the impact of stress and sleep on premenstrual symptomology, however, the study presents a reasonable preliminary examination towards understanding the relationships among these variables in female students and their predictive utility.

Conclusions

The current study offers empirical support for the notion that it is essential to consider stress when studying premenstrual distress. Moreover, it demonstrates the importance of specifically examining college-related stress; female students experience stressors unique to the academic environment that, in turn, can contribute to their overall state of chronic stress.

The results suggest that high premenstrual distress complaints may be partially driven by other important health issues. Thus, health care providers simply relying on medically treating the specific complaints of premenstrual distress may be neglecting underlying contributing factors that carry their own health risks, such as high stress and poor sleep quality; factors that women may not be addressing as actively as their premenstrual distress. Health practitioners are urged to consider engaging in frank discussions about the impact different stressors have on the premenstrual experience and the benefits that stress reduction exercises might convey.

REFERENCES

- Abouserie, R. (1994). Sources and levels of stress in relation to locus of control and self esteem in university students. *Educational Psychology*, *14*(3), 323-330. doi:10.1080/0144341940140306
- Åkerstedt, T., Orsini, N., Petersen, H., Axelsson, J., Lekander, M., & Kecklund, G. (2012). Predicting sleep quality from stress and prior sleep a study of day-to-day covariation across six weeks. *Sleep Medicine*, 13(6), 674-679. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2011.12.013
- Allen, S., McBride, C., & Pirie, P. (1991). The shortened premenstrual assessment form. *The Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, *36*(11), 769-772.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1987). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed., text rev.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- American Psychological Association. (2012). *Gender and Stress [Press release]*. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/gender-stress.aspx
- Bailey, J. W., & Cohen, L. S. (1999). Prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders in women who seek treatment for premenstrual syndrome. *Journal of Women's Health & Gender-Based Medicine*, 8(9), 1181-1184.
- Baker, F. C., & Colrain, I. M. (2010). Daytime sleepiness, psychomotor performance, waking EEG spectra and evoked potentials in women with severe premenstrual syndrome. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 19(1p2), 214-227.
- Baker, F. C., & Driver, H. S. (2004). Self-reported sleep across the menstrual cycle in young, healthy women. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 56(2), 239-243.
- Baker, F. C., Kahan, T. L., Trinder, J., & Colrain, I. M. (2007). Sleep quality and the sleep electroencephalogram in women with severe premenstrual syndrome. *Sleep*, *30*(10), 1283-1291.

- Baker, F. C., Sassoon, S. A., Kahan, T., Palaniappan, L., Nicholas, C. L., Trinder, J., & Colrain, I. M. (2012). Perceived poor sleep quality in the absence of polysomnographic sleep disturbance in women with severe premenstrual syndrome. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 21(5), 535-545.
- Benham, G. (2010). Sleep: an important factor in stress-health models. *Stress and Health*, 26(3), 204-214.
- Bernert, R. A., Merrill, K. A., Braithwaite, S. R., Van Orden, K. A., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2007). Family life stress and insomnia symptoms in a prospective evaluation of young adults. *Journal of Family Psychology, 21*(1), 58-66. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.21.1.58
- Betancourt, J., Ríos, J., Pagán, I., Fabián, C., González, A., Cruz, S., & ... Palacios, C. (2013). Non-medical use of prescription drugs and its association with socio-demographic characteristics, dietary pattern, and perceived academic load and stress in college students in Puerto Rico. *Puerto Rico Health Sciences Journal*, 32(2), 89-94.
- Bronfen, E. (1998). The knotted subject: hysteria and its discontents. Princeton University Press.
- Budeiri, D. J., Li Wan Po, A., & Dornan, J. C. (1994). Clinical trials of treatments of premenstrual syndrome: entry criteria and scales for measuring treatment outcomes. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 101(8), 689-695.
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds III, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Research*, 28(2), 193-213.
- Campagne, D. M., & Campagne, G. (2007). The premenstrual syndrome revisited. *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 130(1), 4-17.
- Cass, H. (2006). Stress and the immune system. *Total Health*, 27(6), 24-25.
- Chandola, T., Britton, A., Brunner, E., Hemingway, H., Malik, M., Kumari, M., & ... Marmot, M. (2008). Work stress and coronary heart disease: what are the mechanisms? *European Heart Journal*, *29*(5), 640-648. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehm584
- Cheng, S., Shih, C., Yang, Y., Chen, K., Chang, Y., & Yang, Y. (2013). Factors associated with premenstrual syndrome a survey of new female university students. *The Kaohsiung Journal of Medical Sciences*, 29(2), 100-105.
- Chiazze, L., Brayer, F. T., Macisco, J. J., Parker, M. P., & Duffy, B. J. (1968). The length and variability of the human menstrual cycle. *Jama*, 203(6), 377-380.

- Chrisler, J. C. (1996). PMS as a culture-bound syndrome. In J. C. Chrisler, C. Golden, P. D.Rozee (Eds.), *Lectures on the psychology of women* (pp. 106-121). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Chrisler, J. C., & Caplan, P. (2002). The strange case of Dr. Jekyll and Ms. Hyde: How PMS became a cultural phenomenon and a psychiatric disorder. *Annual Review of Sex Research*, *13*, 274-306.
- Clare, A. W. (1985). Premenstrual syndrome: Single or multiple causes? *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 30, 474-482.
- Cohen, S., & Williamson, G. (1988). Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In S. Spacapam & S. Oskamp (Eds.), *The social psychology of health: Claremont Symposium on applied social psychology*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Connolly, M. (2001). Premenstrual syndrome: an update on definitions, diagnosis, and management. *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment*, 7, 469-477.
- Cruz, S., Fabián, C., Pagán, I., Ríos, J., González, A., Betancourt, J., & ... Palacios, C. (2013). Physical activity and its associations with sociodemographic characteristics, dietary patterns, and perceived academic stress in students attending college in Puerto Rico. *Puerto Rico Health Sciences Journal*, 32(1), 44-50.
- Daley, A. (2009). Exercise and premenstrual symptomatology: a comprehensive review. *Journal of Women's Health (2002), 18*(6), 895-899. doi:10.1089/jwh.2008.1098
- Deuster, P., Adera, T., & South-Paul, J. (1999). Biological, social, and behavioral factors associated with premenstrual syndrome. *Archives of Family Medicine*, 8(2), 122-128.
- Di Giulio, G. G., & Reissing, E. D. (2006). Premenstrual dysphoric disorder: Prevalence, diagnostic considerations, and controversies. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *27*(4), 201-210. doi:10.1080/01674820600747269
- Dvivedi J, Dvivedi S, Kaur H (2011) A study of the effects of training of 61-point relaxation inwomen suffering from stress of premenstrual syndrome. *Journal of Yoga and Physical Therapy 1*(4), 1-4. doi:10.4172/2157-7595.1000106
- Dvivedi, J., Dvivedi, S., Mahajan, K., Mittal, S., & Singhal, A. (2008). Effect of '61- points relaxation technique' on stress parameters in premenstrual syndrome. *Indian Journal of Physiology And Pharmacology*, *52*(1), 69-76.
- Endicott, J., & Halbreich, U. (1982). Retrospective report of premenstrual depressive changes: factors affecting confirmation by daily ratings. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin*, 18(3), 109-12.

- Erbil, N., Karaca, A., & Kiriş, T. (2010). Investigation of premenstrual syndrome and contributing factors among university students. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 40(4), 565-573. doi:10.3906/sag-0812-2
- Frank, R. T. (1931). The hormonal causes of premenstrual tension. *Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry*, 26(5), 1053.
- Freeman, E. W., Halberstadt, S. M., Rickels, K., Legler, J. M., Lin, H., & Sammel, M. D. (2011). Core symptoms that discriminate premenstrual syndrome. *Journal of Women's Health*, 20(1), 29-35. doi:10.1089/jwh.2010.2161
- Garrett, J. B. (2001). Gender differences in college related stress. *Undergraduate Journal of Psychology*, 14, 21-27.
- Gerrig, R. J., & Zimbardo, P. G. (2002). Psychology and life. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Girdler, S. S., Pedersen, C. A., Straneva, P. A., Leserman, J., Stanwyck, C. L., Benjamin, S., & Light, K. C. (1998). Dysregulation of cardiovascular and neuroendocrine responses to stress in premenstrual dysphoric disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 81(2), 163-178.
- Golding, J., Taylor, D., Menard, L., & King, M. (2000). Prevalence of sexual abuse history in a sample of women seeking treatment for premenstrual syndrome. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 21(2), 69-80.
- Gollenberg, A., Hediger, M., Mumford, S., Whitcomb, B., Hovey, K., Wactawski-Wende, J., & Schisterman, E. (2010). Perceived stress and severity of perimenstrual symptoms: the BioCycle Study. *Journal of Women's Health (2002), 19*(5), 959-967. doi:10.1089/jwh.2009.1717
- González, A., Cruz, S., Ríos, J., Pagán, I., Fabián, C., Betancourt, J., & ... Palacios, C. (2013). Alcohol consumption and smoking and their associations with socio-demographic characteristics, dietary patterns, and perceived academic stress in Puerto Rican college students. *Puerto Rico Health Sciences Journal*, 32(2), 82-88.
- Gotts, G., Morse, C., & Dennerstein, L. (1995). Premenstrual complaints: an idiosyncratic syndrome. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 16(1), 29-35.
- Gourion, D. (2009). [Events of life and links with severe depression at different ages]. *L'encéphale, 35 Suppl* 7S250-S256. doi:10.1016/S0013-7006(09)73480-3
- Greene, R., & Dalton, K. (1953). The premenstrual syndrome. *British Medical Journal*, 1(4818), 1007.

- Halbreich, U., Backstrom, T., Eriksson, E., O'brien, S., Calil, H., Ceskova, E., & ... Yonkers, K. (2007). Clinical diagnostic criteria for premenstrual syndrome and guidelines for their quantification for research studies. *Gynecological Endocrinology: the Official Journal of the International Society of Gynecological Endocrinology, 23*(3), 123-130.
- Halbreich, U., Borenstein, J., Terry, P., & Kahn, L. S. (2003). The prevalence, impairment, impact, and burden of premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMS/PMDD). *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 28(Supp3), 1-23. doi:10.1016/S0306-4530(03)00098-2
- Hamaideh, S., Al-Ashram, S., & Al-Modallal, H. (2013). Premenstrual syndrome and premenstrual dysphoric disorder among Jordanian women. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*. doi: 10.1111/jpm.12047
- Hart, W. G., Coleman, G. J., & Russell, J. W. (1987). Assessment of premenstrual symptomatology: a re-evaluation of the predictive validity of self-report. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 31(2), 185-190.
- Hatch, M. C., Figa-Talamanca, I., & Salerno, S. (1999). Work stress and menstrual patterns among American and Italian nurses. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 25(2), 144-150. doi:10.5271/sjweh.417
- Haywood, A., Slade, P., & King, H. (2002). Assessing the assessment measures for menstrual cycle symptoms: a guide for researchers and clinicians. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *52*(4), 223-237.
- Hourani, L. L., Yuan, H., & Bray, R. M. (2004). Psychosocial and lifestyle correlates of premenstrual symptoms among military women. *Journal of Women's Health, 13*(7), 812-821. doi:10.1089/jwh.2004.13.812
- Janiger, O., Riffenburgh, R., & Kersh, R. (1972). Cross cultural study of premenstrual symptoms. *Psychosomatics*, *13*(4), 226-235.
- Johnson, S. R. (1987). The epidemiology and social impact of premenstrual symptoms. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 30(2), 367-376.
- Johnson, S. R., McChesney, C., & Bean, J. A. (1988). Epidemiology of premenstrual symptoms in a nonclinical sample. I. Prevalence, natural history and help-seeking behavior. *The Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, *33*(4), 340-346.
- Kuczmierczyk, A. R., Labrum, A. H., & Johnson, C. C. (1992). Perception of family and work environments in women with premenstrual syndrome. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *36*(8), 787-795.
- Lamarche, L. J., Driver, H. S., Forest, G., & De Koninck, J. (2010). Napping during the lateluteal phase improves sleepiness, alertness, mood and cognitive performance in women with and without premenstrual symptoms. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, 8(2), 151-159.

- Lamarche, L. J., Driver, H. S., Wiebe, S., Crawford, L., & De Koninck, J. M. (2007). Nocturnal sleep, daytime sleepiness, and napping among women with significant emotional/behavioral premenstrual symptoms. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *16*(3), 262-268.
- Lustyk, M., Widman, L., & Becker, L. (2007). Abuse history and premenstrual symptomatology: assessing the mediating role of perceived stress. *Women & Health*, 46(4), 61-80.
- Lustyk, M. B., Beam, C. R., Miller, A. C., & Olson, K. C. (2006). Relationships among Perceived Stress, Premenstrual Symptomatology and Spiritual Well-Being in Women. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, *34*(4), 311-317.
- Lustyk, M., Widman, L., Paschane, A., & Ecker, E. (2004). Stress, quality of life and physical activity in women with varying degrees of premenstrual symptomatology. *Women & Health*, 39(3), 35-44.
- MacGeorge, E. L., Samter, W., & Gillihan, S. J. (2005). Academic stress, supportive communication, and health. *Communication Education*, *54*(4), 365-372. doi:10.1080/03634520500442236
- Managing Premenstrual Symptoms: Definitions. (2008). Retrieved from http://www.arhp.org/Publications-and-Resources/Quick-Reference-Guide-for-Clinicians/PMS/Definitions
- Manber, R., & Bootzin, R. R. (1997). Sleep and the menstrual cycle. *Health Psychology*, 16(3), 209-214.
- Mason-Hohl, E. (1940). *The diseases of women, by Trotula of Salerno: A translation of passionibus mulierum curandorum by Elizabeth Mason-Hohl, MD*. Los Angeles: The Ward Ritchie press.
- Mauri, M., Reid, R. L., & MacLean, A. W. (1988). Sleep in the premenstrual phase: a self-report study of PMS patients and normal controls. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 78(1), 82-86.
- Middelkoop, H. M., Smilde-van den Doel, D. A., Neven, A., Kamphuisen, H. C., & Springer, C. P. (1996). Subjective sleep characteristics of 1,485 males and females aged 50–93: Effects of sex and age, and factors related to self-evaluated quality of sleep. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 51A(3), M108–M115. doi:10.1093/gerona/51A.3.M108
- Misra, R., & Castillo, L. G. (2004). Academic Stress Among College Students: Comparison of American and International Students. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 11(2), 132-148. doi:10.1037/1072-5245.11.2.132

- Mortola, J. F., Girton, L., Beck, L., & Yen, S. S. C. (1990). Diagnosis of premenstrual syndrome by a simple, prospective, and reliable instrument: the calendar of premenstrual experiences. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 76(2), 302-307.
- Paddison, P., Gise, L., Lebovits, A., Strain, J., Cirasole, D., & Levine, J. (1990). Sexual abuse and premenstrual syndrome: comparison between a lower and higher socioeconomic group. *Psychosomatics*, 31(3), 265-272.
- Padmavathi, P., Sankar, S. R. & Kokilavani, N. (2014) Premenstrual Symptoms and Academic Performance among Adolescent Girls. *International Journal of Health Sciences and Research (IJHSR)*, 4 (2), 116-123.
- Rasheed, P., & Sowailem, L. S. A. (2003). Prevalence and predictors of premenstrual syndromeamong college-aged women in Saudi Arabia. *Annals of Saudi Medicine*, *23*(6), 381-387.
- Redei, E., & Freeman, E. W. (1995). Daily plasma estradiol and progesterone levels over the menstrual cycle and their relation to premenstrual symptoms. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 20(3), 259-267. doi:10.1016/0306-4530(94)00057-H
- Rubinow, D. R., & Roy-Byrne, P. (1984). Premenstrual syndromes: overview from a methodologic perspective. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 141(2), 163-172.
- Rubinow, D. R., & Schmidt, P. J. (1992). Premenstrual syndrome: a review of endocrine studies. *Endocrinologist*, *2*, 47-56.
- Sadler, C., Smith, H., Hammond, J., Bayly, R., Borland, S., Panay, N., & ... Inskip, H. (2010). Lifestyle factors, hormonal contraception, and premenstrual symptoms: the United Kingdom Southampton Women's Survey. *Journal of Women's Health (2002), 19*(3), 391-396. doi:10.1089/jwh.2008.1210
- Schutte-Rodin, S., Broch, L., Buysse, D., Dorsey, C., & Sateia, M. (2008). Clinical guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic insomnia in adults. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine: JCSM: Official Publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 4(5), 487.
- Shao, M. F., Chou, Y. C., Yeh, M. Y., & Tzeng, W. C. (2010). Sleep quality and quality of life in female shift-working nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66(7), 1565-1572.
- Shulman, L. P. (2010). Gynecological management of premenstrual symptoms. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, *14*(5), 367-375.
- Solberg, V. S., Hale, J. B., Villarreal, P., & Kavanagh, J. (1993). Development of the college stress inventory for use with hispanic populations: a confirmatory analytic approach. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 15(4), 490–497.

- Spruill, T. (2010). Chronic psychosocial stress and hypertension. *Current Hypertension Reports*, 12(1), 10-16. doi:10.1007/s11906-009-0084-8
- Steiner, M. (1997). Premenstrual syndromes. Annual Review of Medicine, 48, 447-455.
- Steiner, M. (2000). Premenstrual syndrome and premenstrual dysphoric disorder: guidelines for management. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 25(5), 459-468.
- Steiner, M., Haskett, R. F., & Carroll, B. J. (1980). Premenstrual tension syndrome: the development of research diagnostic criteria and new rating scales. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 62(2), 177-190.
- Steiner, M., Peer, M., Palova, E., Freeman, E. W., Macdougall, M., & Soares, C. N. (2011). The Premenstrual Symptoms Screening Tool revised for adolescents (PSST-A): Prevalence of severe PMS and premenstrual dysphoric disorder in adolescents. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *14*(1), 77-81. doi:10.1007/s00737-010-0202-2
- Stolberg, M. (2000). The monthly malady: a history of premenstrual suffering. *Medical History*, 44(3), 301.
- Tabassum, S., Afridi, B., Aman, Z., Tabassum, W., & Durrani, R. (2005). Premenstrual syndrome: frequency and severity in young college girls. *Journal-Pakistan Medical Assoication*, *55*(12), 546.
- Takeda, T., Tasaka, K., Sakata, M., & Murata, Y. (2006). Prevalence of premenstrual syndrome and premenstrual dysphoric disorder in Japanese women. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *9*(4), 209-212.
- Talib, N., & Sansgiry, S. S. (2011). Factors affecting academic performance of university students in Pakistan. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research In Business*, 3(3), 589-600.
- Taylor, D. (2006). From 'It's All in Your Head' to 'Taking Back the Month': Premenstrual Syndrome (PMS) Research and the Contributions of the Society for Menstrual Cycle Research. *Sex Roles*, *54*, 377-391. doi:10.1007/s11199-006-9009-z
- Taylor, R. J., Fordyce, I. D., & Alexander, D. A. (1991). Relationship between personality and premenstrual symptoms: a study in five general practices. *British Journal of General Practice*, 41(343), 55-57.
- Thomas, I., & Narayanan, G. (2006). Psycho-social correlates of perimenstrual distress. *Journal of the Indian Academy of Applied Psychology*, 32(1), 71-80.
- Tschudin, S., Bertea, P., & Zemp, E. (2010). Prevalence and predictors of premenstrual syndrome and premenstrual dysphoric disorder in a population-based sample. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 13(6), 485-494. doi:10.1007/s00737-010-0165-3

- Urponen, H., Vuori, I., Hasan, J., & Partinen, M. (1988). Self-evaluations of factors promoting and disturbing sleep: An epidemiological survey in Finland. *Social Science & Medicine*, 26(4), 443-450. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(88)90313-9
- Ussher, J. M. (2006). *Managing the monstrous feminine: Regulating the reproductive body*. London: Routledge.
- Utsugi, M., Saijo, Y., Yoshioka, E., Horikawa, N., Sato, T., Gong, Y., & Kishi, R. (2005). Relationships of occupational stress to insomnia and short sleep in Japanese workers. *Sleep: Journal of Sleep and Sleep Disorders Research*, 28(6), 728-735.
- Vankim, N., & Nelson, T. (2013). Vigorous physical activity, mental health, perceived stress, and socializing among college students. *American Journal of Health Promotion: AJHP*, doi:10.4278/ajhp.111101-QUAN-395
- Veith, I. (1965). *Hysteria: the history of a disease*. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Vichnin, M., Freeman, E. W., Lin, H., Hillman, J., & Bui, S. (2006). Premenstrual syndrome(PMS) in adolescents: severity and impairment. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, 19(6), 397-402.
- Vigod, S. N., Ross, L. E., & Steiner, M. (2009). Understanding and treating premenstrual dysphoric disorder: an update for the women's health practitioner. *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America*, 36(4), 907-924.
- Weidner, G., Kohlmann, C., Dotzauer, E., & Burns, L. R. (1996). The effects of academic stress on health behaviors in young adults. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping: An International Journal*, 9(2), 123-133. doi:10.1080/10615809608249396
- Widmaier, E. P., Raff, H., Strang, K. T., & Vander, A. J. (2010). *Vander's human physiology:* the mechanisms of body function (12th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Woods, N., Lentz, M., Mitchell, E., & Kogan, H. (1994). Arousal and stress response across the menstrual cycle in women with three perimenstrual symptom patterns. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 17(2), 99-110.
- Yamamoto, K., Okazaki, A., Sakamoto, Y., & Funatsu, M. (2009). The relationship between premenstrual symptoms, menstrual pain, irregular menstrual cycles, and psychosocial stress among Japanese college students. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 28(3), 129-136.
- Yonkers, K. A., Pearlstein, T. T., & Rosenheck, R. A. (2003). Premenstrual disorders: bridging research and clinical reality. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *6*(4), 287-292. doi:10.1007/s00737-003-0026-4

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX A

SHORTENED PREMENSTRUAL ASSESMENT FORM (SPAF)

For each of the symptoms below, circle the number that most closely describes the intensity of your premenstrual symptoms <u>during your last cycle</u>. These are symptoms that would occur during the premenstrual phase of your cycle. This phase begins about seven days prior to menstrual bleeding (or seven days before your period) and ends about the time bleeding starts. Rate each item on this list on a scale from 1 (not present or no change from usual) to 6 (extreme change, perhaps noticeable even to casual acquaintances).

	1=]	No ch	ange			reme ge=6
1. Pain, tenderness, enlargement or swelling of breasts	1	2	3	4	5	6
2. Feeling unable to cope or overwhelmed by ordinary demands	1	2	3	4	5	6
3. Feeling under stress	1	2	3	4	5	6
4. Outburst of irritability or bad temper	1	2	3	4	5	6
5. Feeling sad or blue	1	2	3	4	5	6
6. Backaches, joint and muscle pain, or joint stiffness	1	2	3	4	5	6
7. Weight gain	1	2	3	4	5	6
8. Relatively steady abdominal heaviness, discomfort or pain	1	2	3	4	5	6
9. Edema, swelling, puffiness, or water retention	1	2	3	4	5	6
10. Feeling bloated	1	2	3	4	5	6
		Total	Score	e		

(Note: A score greater than 30 generally indicates moderate PMS symptoms; the more severe the symptoms, the higher the score.)

Used with permission. Allen, S., McBride, C., & Pirie, P. (1991). The shortened premenstrual assessment form. *The Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, *36*(11), 769-772.

APPENDIX B

APPENDIX B

PERCEIVED STRESS SCALE (PSS)

Perceived Stress Scale- 10 Item The questions in this scale ask you about your feelings and thoughts during the last month. In each case, please indicate with a check how often you felt or thought a certain way. 1. In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly? 0=never 1=almost never 2=sometimes 3=fairly often often 2. In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the important things in your life? ___0=never ___1=almost never ___2=sometimes ___3=fairly often often 3. In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and "stressed"? 0=never 1=almost never 2=sometimes 3=fairly often often 4. In the last month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems? 0=never 1=almost never 2=sometimes 3=fairly often often 5. In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way? 0=never __1=almost never __2=sometimes ___3=fairly often often 6. In the last month, how often have you found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do? 0=never 1=almost never 2=sometimes 3=fairly often 4=verv often 7. In the last month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your life? ___0=never ___1=almost never ___2=sometimes ____3=fairly often

often

8. In the last mo	onth, how often have y	ou felt that you wer	e on top of things?	
0=never	1=almost never	2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
often				
9. In the last moyour control?	onth, how often have y	ou been angered be	cause of things that we	ere outside of
0=never	1=almost never	2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
often				
10. In the last n not overcome the	*	you felt difficulties	were piling up so high	that you could
0=never	1=almost never	2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
often				

APPENDIX C

APPENDIX C

COLLEGE STRESS INVENTORY (CSI)

In the last month, how often have you experienced....

1. Difficulty trying to fulfill responsibilities at home and at school. 0=never1=almost never2=sometimes3=fairly often often	4=very
2. Difficulty trying to meet peers of your race/ethnicity on campus. 0=never1=almost never2=sometimes3=fairly often often	4=very
3. Difficulty taking exams. 0=never1=almost never2=sometimes3=fairly often often	4=very
4. Difficulty finding support groups sensitive to your needs. 0=never1=almost never2=sometimes3=fairly often often	4=very
5. A fear of failing to meet family expectations0=never1=almost never2=sometimes3=fairly often often	4=very
6. Difficult participating in class. 0=never1=almost never2=sometimes3=fairly often often	4=very
7. Difficulty living in the local community0=never1=almost never2=sometimes3=fairly often often	4=very
8. Difficulty handling relationships0=never1=almost never2=sometimes3=fairly often often	4=very
9. Difficulty handling your academic workload.	

0=never	1=almost never	2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
		u unlike they treat eac 2=sometimes	ch other3=fairly often	4=very
11. Difficulty wr0=never often		2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
	ying student fees ne 1=almost never		3=fairly often	4=very
	ficulties due to owin_1=almost never		3=fairly often	4=very
14. Difficulty pa 0=never often	ying rent1=almost never	2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
15. Difficulty paragraph 0=never often		2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
	ying for recreation a 1=almost never		3=fairly often	4=very
		periencing money pro 2=sometimes	blems3=fairly often	4=very
		course requirements2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
		eed to preform well in2=sometimes	n school3=fairly often	4=very
		asis of your ethnicity2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very

21. Difficulty from peers on the basis of your ethnicity.		
0=never1=almost never2=sometimes	3=fairly often	4=very
often		
Used with permission. Solberg, V. S., Hale, J. B., Villarre	eal, P., & Kavanagh, J	. (1993).
Development of the college stress inventory for use with h	hispanic populations: a	a confirmatory
analytic approach. Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Science	es, 15(4), 490–497.	

APPENDIX D

APPENDIX D

PITTSBURGH SLEEP QUALITY INDEX (PSQI)

INSTRUCTIONS:

The following questions relate to your usual sleep habits during the past month <u>only</u>. Your answers should indicate the most accurate reply for the <u>majority</u> of days and nights in the past month.

Ple	ase answer all ques	tions.						
1.	During the past month, what time have you usually gone to bed at night? BED TIME							
2.	During the past month, how long (in minutes) has it usually taken you to fall asleep each							
	night?							
	NUMBER OF	MINUTES						
	During the past month, what time have you usually gotten up in the morning? GETTING UP TIME							
4.	During the past mo	onth, how many hours of	actual sleep did you get	at night? (This may be				
	different than the r	number of hours you spen	nt in bed.)					
		LEEP PER NIGHT						
			 _					
Fo	r each of the remair	iing questions, check the	one best response. Plea	se answer all questions.				
		- ·	i had trouble sleeping be	-				
	\mathcal{C} 1	,	1 0	3				
	a) Cannot get to s	leep within 30 minutes						
N	ot during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more				
		once a week		times a week				
				<u> </u>				
	b) Wake up in the	middle of the night or e	arly morning					
N	ot during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more				
		once a week						
	c) Have to get up	to use the bathroom						
N	ot during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more				
	•	once a week						
	d) Cannot breathe	comfortably						

Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month	once a week	a week	times a week
e) Cough or snore l	loudly		
, •	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month		a week	
past month	onee a week		
f) Feel too cold			
Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month	once a week	a week	times a week
g) Feel too hot			
Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month		a week	
r			
h) Had bad dreams			
Not during the		Once or twice	Three or more
past month	once a week	a week	times a week
i) Have pain			
Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month			
<u> </u>			
j) Other reason(s),	please describe		
How often durin	σ the nast month have	you had trouble sleeping	hecause of this?
		Once or twice	
	once a week		times a week
past month	office a week	a week	times a week
Varuesad	th, how would you rate	e your sleep quality over	all?
E-1-11			
Enimber hand			
Very bad _			
7. During the past mon "over the counter")?		taken medicine to help	you sleep (prescribed or
Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
_	once a week		
·		<u> </u>	<u> </u>

8. During the past month, how often have you had trouble staying awake while driving, eating meals, or engaging in social activity?

Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month	once a week	a week	times a week
9. During the past morenthusiasm to get to No problem at Only a very slig Somewhat of a A very big prob	all ght problem problem		to keep up enough
No bed partner Partner/room m	nate in other room e room, but not same bed		
If you have a room ma have had	te or bed partner, ask him	n/her how often in the p	ast month you
a) Loud snoring			
_	Less than once a week		
b) Long pauses be	etween breaths while asle	ep	
,	Less than	-	Three or more
_	once a week		
c) Legs twitching	or jerking while you slee	ep	
_	Less than		
past month	once a week	a week	times a week
d) Episodes of dis	orientation or confusion	during sleep	
Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month	once a week	a week	times a week
e) Other restlessne	ess while you sleep; pleas	se describe	
Not during the	Less than	Once or twice	Three or more
past month		a week	times a week

Buysse, D.J., Reynolds, C.F., Monk, T.H., Berman, S.R., & Kupfer, D.J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI): A new instrument for psychiatric research and practice. *Psychiatry Research*, 28(2), 193-213.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Sara Julia Gonzalez completed her Master's degree in Experimental Psychology with a concentration in Applied Behavior Analysis at the University of Texas-Pan American in July 2014. She graduated *cum laude* with a Bachelor of Science in Psychology and a Bachelor of Arts in Anthropology from the University of Texas-Pan American in May 2011. She is a member of Psi Chi the International Honor Society in Psychology.

Ms. Gonzalez plans on taking her certification exam in November 2014 to become a board certified behavior analyst. She looks forward to working in the field of behavior analysis and plans to possibly apply to a doctoral program in the future. Her current residence is in the Texas' Rio Grande Valley and she can be reached at the following email address, sarajuliagonzalez@gmail.com.